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DIRECTOR OF DEPARTMENT OF
)

INSURANCE, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
)

AND PROFESSIONAL REGISTRATION,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 10-2282 DI




)

RONALD E. BROWN, JR., and BROWN 
)

INSURANCE & BROKERAGE
)

AGENCY, LLC,

)




)



Respondents.
)
DECISION

The insurance producer license of Ronald E. Brown, Jr. and the business entity producer license of Brown Insurance and Brokerage Agency, LLC (“the Agency”) are subject to discipline because Brown misappropriated and converted insurance premiums, intentionally misrepresented the terms of actual insurance contracts, was convicted of felonies and crimes of moral turpitude, and committed fraud.    

Procedure


The Director of the Department of Insurance, Financial Institutions and Professional Registration (“the Director”) filed his original complaint on December 8, 2010, seeking this Commission's determination that cause exists to discipline Brown's insurance producer license 
and the Agency’s business entity producer license.  The complaint was also filed against Deatrice B. Brown, but that portion of the original complaint (Count II) was dismissed without prejudice on March 29, 2011.
We attempted service of a copy of the original complaint on the Agency by certified mail.  On January 26, 2011, someone other than the registered agent for the Agency signed the certified mail receipt.  Brown was personally served on February 22, 2011.  On April 1, 2011, Brown filed a document styled “Motion in Response to Complaint,” in which he asked us to delay proceedings in the case until he was released from a federal correctional institution.  We treat this document as Brown’s answer, not as the Agency’s answer.  The Director responded to the motion to delay the proceedings on April 12, 2011, and we denied the motion on April 13, 2011.

On March 29, 2011, the Director propounded and served his first request for admissions upon Brown.  Brown failed to respond to the request for admissions, so as to Brown, they are deemed admitted.  However, the Director also purported to propound and serve the Agency through service on Brown at Brown’s address at the federal correctional institution.  Because Brown was not the registered agent for the Agency, we cannot consider the Agency to have been served with the request for admissions, and the Agency is not deemed to have admitted them.

The Director filed his first motion for partial summary decision, with suggestions in support, on May 17, 2011.  Because the registered agent was not served with the complaint, we ordered the Director to serve the complaint, our original notice of complaint/notice of hearing, and the motion for partial summary decision on the Agency’s registered agent by personal service.  That personal service was made on July 19, 2011.  

On December 7, 2011, we ordered the Director to provide us with legal authority as to our jurisdiction over the case.  On December 20, 2011, the Director withdrew the motion for partial summary decision he had previously filed, and moved to amend his complaint.  We 
granted the motion to amend on January 9, 2012, and deemed the Director’s first amended complaint filed as of December 20, 2011.  On February 15, 2012, we ordered the Director to show cause why we should not dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction, to which the Director responded on February 29, 2012.  On March 20, 2012, we issued an order by which we accepted the Director’s assertion of our jurisdiction.  On May 10, 2012, the Director filed a motion for summary decision, which we rule upon here.  The Director also moved to supplement the record in order to replace an uncertified copy of Brown’s plea agreement in the criminal case of United States v. Ronald E. Brown, Jr.
 with a certified copy.  We grant the motion to supplement.

The Agency never filed an answer to the original or the amended complaint.  Our regulations require that the Agency file such an answer.
  We may on our own motion order that the Agency is deemed to have admitted the facts pleaded in the amended complaint for failing to file an answer, and we enter such an order.
  Based on the Agency’s failure to answer the amended complaint and the verified and exemplified contents of the exhibits accompanying the Director’s motion for summary decision, we make the following findings of undisputed fact.

Findings of Fact

1. The Director issued an insurance producer license to Brown on February 6, 1997.  That license was canceled
 at Brown’s request on April 20, 2007.
2. The Department originally issued a business entity producer license to the Agency on July 8, 2003.  That license was canceled at the Agency’s request on April 20, 2007.

3. At all relevant times, Brown was a partner, officer, or manager of the Agency and acted on the Agency’s behalf.

Kansas Conviction and Plea Agreement

4. On January 6, 2010, in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas, in case number 2:07CR20163-001-KHV, styled United States v. Ronald E. Brown, Jr., Brown was convicted of conspiracy to commit wire fraud and money laundering in violation of 18 U.S.C.  §§ 371, 1343, 1956, and 2; and aiding and abetting wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and 2.  He was sentenced to 121 months’ imprisonment and 3 years’ supervised release.
5. As part of the above-referenced criminal prosecution, Brown entered into a plea agreement on October 21, 2008.  In the portion of the plea agreement titled, “Factual Basis for the Guilty Plea,” Brown admitted he had done the following: 
a. providing “proof of insurance” documents that were included in fraudulent loan applications; 
b. causing the transmission by wire in interstate commerce of a fraudulent payoff statement which was intended to divert funds to a contractor in payment for work the contractor never performed; 
c. causing the diversion of funds through providing, and conspiring to provide, false and fraudulent statements and representations in order to fraudulently divert funds, including but not limited to issuing an insurance binder that facilitated the demand and payment of money purportedly due for construction work that was not done; and 
d. accepting premium payments from individual property owners for policies that were never issued to those owners.

6. In the above-referenced plea agreement, Brown admitted that he provided the “proof of insurance” documents and the insurance binder, as well as accepted the premium payments, in his capacity as an insurance producer of the Agency.

7. In Brown’s capacity as a partner, officer, or manager of the Agency, Brown was a person who knew or should have known of the actions (i.e., fraud, misappropriation, and intentional misrepresentation of an insurance contract) he was committing as an insurance producer for the Agency.

8. At no time relevant to the first amended complaint did Brown, in his capacity as a partner, officer, or manager acting on the Agency’s behalf, either report to the Director or take adequate corrective action with regard to Brown’s violations.

9. The Agency, through its partners, officer, or manager, knew or should have known of Brown’s violations.

10. The Agency did not report Brown’s violations or take corrective action for those violations.

Western District of Missouri Conviction and Plea Agreement

11. On January 8, 2010, in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri, in case number 08-00297-03-CR-W-FJG, styled United States v. Ronald E. Brown, Jr., Brown was convicted of conspiracy to commit interstate transportation of funds obtained by fraud and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.  He was sentenced to 30 months’ imprisonment, with 15 months of the sentence to be served concurrently with the sentence for the Kansas conviction, and 15 months to be served consecutively to the sentence for the conviction.
12. As part of the above-referenced criminal prosecution, Brown entered into a plea agreement on January 8, 2009.  In the portion of the plea agreement titled, “Factual Basis for  Guilty Plea,” Brown admitted to conspiring to obtain money from mortgage lenders and title companies by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and by the concealment of material facts, thereby committing interstate transportation of funds obtained by fraud and wire fraud.  Brown and his co-conspirators sold houses in Lee’s Summit, Missouri, at inflated prices, structured the transactions so the buyers would receive the difference between the actual sale prices and the inflated prices, prepared the documentation so as to cover up the nature of the transactions, and made materially false, fraudulent, and misleading representations and omissions.  He pocketed substantial sums from these actions.
Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the complaint.
  As to Brown, he admitted facts and those facts authorize discipline.  But statutes and case law instruct that we must “separately and independently” determine whether such facts constitute cause for discipline.
  Therefore, we independently assess whether the facts admitted allow discipline under the law cited.  As to the Agency, its failure to answer the amended complaint means that we deem the facts of the amended complaint admitted.

The Director argues that there is cause to discipline Brown’s and the Agency’s licenses under the following provisions of § 375.141:

1.  The director may suspend, revoke, refuse to issue or refuse to renew an insurance producer license for any one or more of the following causes:

*   *   *

(4) Improperly withholding, misappropriating or converting any moneys or properties received in the course of doing insurance business;

(5) Intentionally misrepresenting the terms of an actual or proposed insurance contract or application for insurance;

(6) Having been convicted of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude;

(7) Having admitted or been found to have committed any insurance unfair trade practice or fraud;

(8) Using fraudulent, coercive, or dishonest practices, or demonstrating incompetence, untrustworthiness or financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business in this state or elsewhere;

*   *   *

3. The license of a business entity licensed as an insurance producer may be suspended, revoked, renewal refused or an application may be refused if the director finds that a violation by an individual insurance producer was known or should have been known by one or more of the partners, officers or managers acting on behalf of the business entity and the violation was neither reported to the director nor corrective action taken. 

Count I- Improper Withholding, Misappropriating or Converting any Moneys or Properties Received in the Course of Doing Insurance Business (§375.141.1(4))
The Director alleges that Brown improperly withheld, misappropriated or converted moneys or properties received in the course of doing insurance business, as evidenced by the conduct he admitted to committing in the Kansas plea agreement.  Specifically, Brown accepted premium payments from property owners for policies that were never provided.  We agree that Brown misappropriated and converted the premium payments.  Therefore, grounds exist to discipline Brown pursuant to § 375.141.1(4).
Count II—Intentional Misrepresentation of the 
Terms of an Actual or Proposed Insurance Contract (§ 375.141.1(5))

The Director alleges that Brown and the Agency intentionally misrepresented the terms of actual or proposed insurance contracts by providing “proof of insurance” documents that he knew would be submitted to lenders to obtain mortgage loans, and issuing an insurance binder
 that facilitated the demand and payment of money purportedly due for construction work that was not done.  Brown admitted both of these actions in his October 21, 2008 plea agreement as part of his Kansas conviction.  Brown also admitted that he committed these acts in his capacity as an insurance producer for the Agency.  We agree that these actions constituted intentional 
misrepresentations of the terms of actual insurance contracts.  Therefore, grounds exist to discipline Brown and the Agency pursuant to § 375.141.1(5).
Count III- Conviction of a Felony or a 
Crime of Moral Turpitude (§ 375.141.1(6))
Section 375.141.1(6) creates a cause for discipline of Brown’s license if he was convicted of a felony or a crime of moral turpitude.  18 U.S.C. § 371, titled “Conspiracy to commit offense or to defraud United States,” is punishable by imprisonment for up to 5 years, making it a Class D felony under 18 U.S.C. § 3559(a).  18 U.S.C. § 1343, titled “Fraud by wire, radio or television,” is punishable by imprisonment up to 20 years, making it a Class C felony under 
§ 3559(a).  18 U.S.C. § 1956, titled “Laundering of monetary instruments,” is punishable by imprisonment for up to 20 years, making it a Class C felony under § 3559(a).  Brown was convicted under these statutes.  Brown is therefore subject to discipline under § 375.141.1(6).

The Director also asserts that Brown’s crimes were crimes of moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,
 a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);
(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and

(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).

The court stated that Category 3 crimes require consideration of “the related factual circumstances” of the offense to determine whether moral turpitude is involved.
  We determine that crimes involving mail fraud, wire fraud, and money laundering are Category 1 crimes involving moral turpitude.
  


Grounds exist to discipline Brown under § 375.141.1(6).

Count IV- Commission of Fraud (§ 375.141.1(7))

The Director alleges that by Brown’s admitted participation in the wire fraud and money laundering schemes that made up the Kansas conviction and plea agreement, and the conspiracy to commit interstate transportation of funds obtained by fraud and wire fraud that made up the Western District of Missouri conviction and plea agreement, his license is subject to discipline under § 375.141.1(7).  

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.
  The conduct to which Brown admitted in the two plea agreements was saturated with fraud.  Grounds exist to discipline Brown under § 375.141.1(7).

Count V- Use of Fraudulent or Dishonest Practices or 
Demonstrating Untrustworthiness in the Conduct of Business (§ 375.141.1(8))
 
The Director alleges that Brown’s participation in the conspiracies to commit wire fraud, money laundering, and interstate transportation of funds obtained by fraud, as set out in the two plea agreements, constituted fraudulent or dishonest practices, or demonstrated untrustworthiness or financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business, and therefore is grounds for discipline of Brown’s license under § 375.141.1(8).  The Director also alleges that because Brown caused the Agency to aid and abet in wire fraud by issuing the insurance binder as set out in the Kansas plea agreement, the Agency’s license is subject to discipline under this ground as well.  We agree that Brown’s actions, as set out in the two plea agreements, constituted fraudulent and dishonest practices, and demonstrated untrustworthiness and financial irresponsibility in the conduct of business.  We also agree that Brown caused the Agency to aid and abet in the wire fraud by issuing the insurance binder.  Therefore, grounds exist to discipline Brown and the Agency under § 375.141.1(8).
Count VI- Failure of Entity Insurance Producer to Report Violation 
by Individual Insurance Producer (§ 375.141.3)

Section 375.141.3 creates a cause for discipline of a business entity license when an entity fails to report or take corrective action concerning a violation by an individual insurance producer and one or more of the entity's partners, officers, or managers knew or should have known of the violation.  Brown was a partner, officer, or manager of the Agency and acted on the Agency’s behalf.  As a partner, officer, or manager of the Agency, and acting on the Agency’s behalf, Brown knew of his own violations as we set out above, but the Agency neither reported the violations to the Director nor took corrective action.  Grounds exist to discipline the Agency under § 375.141.3.
Summary


We find cause to discipline Brown under §§ 375.141.1(4), (5), (6), (7), and (8), and to discipline the Agency under §§ 375.141.1(5) and (8) and 375.141.3.  We grant the Director’s motion for summary decision and cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on June 5, 2012.


________________________________



SREENIVASA RAO DANDAMUDI


Commissioner

�The case in question is the criminal case filed in the Western District of Missouri, not the case filed in the District of Kansas.  Both cases are discussed below under the appropriate subheadings.


	�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1).


	�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7).


�Our orders of December 7, 2011 and February 15, 2012, ordering the Director to show how we have jurisdiction in the case, were based on our query whether the Director could discipline a canceled license.  In response, the Director argued , and we agreed, that § 375.141.4 allows for discipline of a license that was surrendered – and that, in this case, the cancellation of Respondents’ licenses was equivalent to their surrender.


�Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 2011.


�Kennedy v. Missouri Real Estate Commission, 762 S.W.2d 454, 456-57 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).


�RSMo Supp. 2003.  The conduct forming the basis for discipline was committed between 2003 and 2007.


�A “binder” is a contract of temporary insurance, either oral or written, effective at the date of application for permanent insurance and terminating upon the issuance, delivery, and acceptance of the policy, or by a rejection of the application.  Jenkad Enters. v. Transportation Ins. Co., 18 S.W.3d 34, 37 (Mo. App., E.D. 2000).


�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  


�213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).


�Id. at 725 (quoting Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp. v. Lardner, 216 F.2d 844, 852 (9th Cir. 1954)).


	�Brehe, 213 S.W.3d at 725.


�See, e.g., Niebling v. Terry, 177 S.W.2d 502, 503 (Mo. banc 1944) (mail fraud is a crime of moral turpitude).


�State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).
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